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Florida Power & Light Company
ATTN: T. F. Plunkett
President - Nuclear Division .
P. 0. Box 14000
Juno Beach, Florida 33408-0420

SUBJECT : NRC INTEGRATED INSPECTION REPORT NOS. 50-335/96-04 AND 50-389/96-04
AND NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Gent Temen:

This refers to the inspection conducted on February 18 through March 30. 1996.
at the St. Lucie facility. The purpose of the inspection was to determine
whether activities authorized by the license were conducted safely and in
accordance with NRC requirements. At the conclusion of the inspection, the
findings were discussed with those members of your staff identified in the
enclosed report.

Areas examined during the inspection are identified in the report. Within these
areas, the inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures and
representative records, interviews with personnel, and observation of activities

in progress.

Based on the results of this inspection, the NRC has determined that violations
of NRC requirements occurred. The violations are cited in the enclosed Notice
of Violation (Notice) and the circumstances surrounding them are described in
detail in the subject inspection report. The violations are of concern because
they indicate that personnel performance with respect to procedure compliance and
usage and attention to detail persist even after corrective actions had been
completed for previous, similar, violations. Particularly illustrative of this
point is a violation for failures assaciated ,with the Unit 1 containment
particulate/iodine/gaseous radiation monitor. The event displayed particularly
poor performance on the part of several individuals and included aspects of
failin? to access and follow a procedure, compounded by failing to capitalize on
multiE e opportunities to identify the inoperable component through lo?tak1ng.
Logtaking weaknesses were fu~ter compounded by the fact that non-licensed
operators taking the logs were electronically prompted that a key parameter
associated with the ¢ t's uperability was unacceptably low. The failure
to pursue this condition, over six logtaking opportunities, would tend to
indicate that a lack of a questioning attitude extends to multiple personnel.
It is also noted that a failure to employ an a?proved procedure lead to a
condition of Emergency Diesel Generator inoperability (the subject of another
violation in the enclosed report).
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As documented in the report, we have performed an initial review of the Licensee
Event Report you submitted for the subject event. While we found your immediate
corrective actions appropriate, we question the ccope of the actions delineated
in your transmittal. Consequentl{, in your response to the enclosed Notice,
please describe what actions you will take to insti11, in non-licensed operators,
an understanding of the vital role they play in the early detectiom of off-normal
conditions during logtaking and log review. Additionally, please describe your
basis for believing that other cases of inoperability in components have not been
overlooked through similar errors and any actions you have taken (or plan to
take) to identify those components which may be rendered inoperable in a similar
manner (by non Operations personnel performing routine evolutions for which the
control room may not have cognizance). We would be very interested in how your
Plan to Improve Operational Performance initiative is (or will be) addressing the
problems leading to this violation. Please be prepared to discuss this issue at
the next FPL/NRC management meeting.

You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions
specified in the enclosed Notice when preparing your response. In your response,
you should document the specific actions taken and any additional actions you
plan to prevent recurrence. Your response may reference or include previous
docketed correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required
response. After reviewing your response to this Notice, inciuding your proposed
corrective actions and the results of future inspections. the NRC will determine
whether further NRC enforcement action is necessary to ensure compliance with NRC
regulatory requirements.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's "Rules of F~actice.” a copy of this
letter, its enclosures, and your response will be priaced in the NRC Public
Document Room (PDR). To the extent possible, your response should not include
any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be
placed in the PDR without reduction.

The responses directed by this letter and the enclosed Notice are not subject to
the clearance procedures of the Office of Management and Budget ac 1equired by
the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96-511.
Should you have any questions concerning this letter, please contact us.
Sincerely,
Kerry D. Landis, Chief

Reactor Projects Branch 3
Division of Reactor Projects

Docket Nos. 50-335, 50-389
LicenseiNos. DPR-67, NPF-16
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Enclosures: Notice of Violation
Inspection Report

cc w/enci: (See page 2)
NOTE: ADD CC & BCC LISTS FROM 5520
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Florida Power & Light Company Docket Nos. 50-335
St. Lucie 1 License Nos. DPR-67

During an NRC inspection conducted on February 18 through March 30, 1996,
violations of NRC requirements were identified. In accordance with the "General
Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions,” (60 FR 34381;
June 30, 1995), the violations are listed below:

A.

Technical Specification 6.8.1.a requires that written procedures be
established, 1implemented, and maintained covering the activities
recommended in Appendix A of Regulatory Guide 1.33, Rev 2, February, 1978.
Appendix A, paragraph 1.d includes admimstrative procedures for
Brocedural adherence. QI 5-PR/PSL-1, Rev 68, "Preparation, Revision,
eview/Approval of Procedures,” Section 5.13.1, states that all procedures
shall be strictly adhered to.

Step 7.5.1.R of prccedure HPP-22, Rev 2, "Air Sampling." required that
valve 3 of the Unit 1 containment Particulate lodine Gaseous Monitor be
returned to the open position following the performance of a containment
grab sample.

AP 0010120, Rev 79, "Conduct of Operations, Apgend1x F. “Log Keeping,"
required, in part, that "Log readings shall be compared to previous
readings to detect abnormal trends or conditions and verified to be within
the minimum and maximum values for that parameter. All log readings
outside the min/max values shall be circled with reasons stated for
abnormal readings (i.e.. 00S, NPWO, ISOL, etc).”

Contrary to the above:

1. On February 22, 1996, a health physics technician performing a grab
sample of the Unit 1 containment failed to return valve 3 to the
open position and, as a result, rendered the monitor inoperabie.

2.  On February 22, 23, and 24, 1996. Senior Nuclear Plant Operators
failed to perform adequate reviews of logs taken in the Unit 1
Reactor Auxiliary Building, as the out-of-specification log readings
taken on the Unit 1 containment particulate iodine gaseous monitor
were not highlighted and explained. As a result, the Unit 1
containment Particulate lodine Gaseous monitor remained inoperable
and Unit 1 transitioned from Mode 3 to Mode 2 without satisfying
Technical Specification Limiting Condition for Operation 3.4.6.1.

" The Mode transition was prohibited by Technical Specification 3.0.4.

C ml\mpnm-ss-oa\w AR
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This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement I).

B. Technical Specification 6.8.1.a requires that written procedures be
established, implemented, and maintained covering the activities
recommended in Appendix A of Regulatory Guide 1.33, Rev 2, February, 1978.
Appendix A, paragraph 1.d includes administrative peocedures for
Brocedura] adherence. QI 5-PR/PSL-1. Rev 68, "Preparation, Revision,

eview/Approval of Procedures.” Section 5.13.1, states that all procedures
shall be strictly adhered to.

AP 0010120, Rev 80, "Conduct of Operations," Appendix F, "Log Keeping, "
required, in part. that reactivity manipulations be entered in the Reactor
Controls Operator Chronological Log.

AP 0010120, Rev 80, "Conduct of Operations,” Appendix F, "Log Keeping."
required, in part, that abnormal conditions in turbine-generator auxiliary
systems be entered in the Reactor Controls Operator Chronological Log.

Contrary to the above:

1. On March 27, 1996, an NRC inspector observed St. Lucie Unit 1
operators perform two Reactor Coolant System dilutions (reactivity
manipulations) which, upon later review, were found to have not been
entered in the Reactor Controls Operator Chronological Log.

2. On March 27, 1996, hydrogen was added to restore a low pressure
condition in the St. Lucié Unit 1 generator. Upon later review, it
was determined that the evolution was not entered in the Reactor
Controls Operator Chronological Log.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement 1)

C. Technical Specification 6.8.1.a requires that written procedures be
established, implemented, and maintained covering the activities
recommended in Appendix A of Regulatory Guide 1.33, Rev 2, February, 1978.
Appendix A, paragraph 1.d includes administrative procedures for
arocedural adherence. QI 5-PR/PSL-1, Rev 68, "Preparation, Revision,

eview/Approval of Procedures,” Section 5.13.1, states that all procedures
shall be strictly adhered to.

0P 1-2200050A, Rev 24, "1A Emergency Diesel Generator Periodic Test and
General Operating Instructions,” Appendix E required, in part. that the 1A
Emergencg Diesel Generator Fuel 0i1 Storage Tank be recirculated by
establishing a flow path from the tank, through the transfer pumr, and
throygh valves V17207 and V17208 back to the tank.

QI 1-PR/PSL-2 , Rev 26, "Operations Organization," and AP 0010120, Rev 79.

C \WPSI\DOCUMENT1R-96-04\5L9604 WAR
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"Conduct of Operations." Appendix A, required that Senior Nuclear Plant
Operators “...report promptly to the Control Room any equipment or valve
manipulations so that the RCO will be aware of the current plant status.”

Contrary to the above:

1. On January 5, a Senior Nuclear Plant Operator placed the 1A
Emergency Diesel Generator Fuel 01! Storage Tank in recirculation py
isolating the discharge of the traznsfer pump and allowing the fuel
to be recirculated back to the tank via the pump's minimum flow
line. The isolation of the trarnsfer pump’'s discharge resulted in
the Emergency Diesel Generator being inoperable.

2. On January 5, a Senior Plant Nuclear Operator failed to notify the
Unit 1 control room of a valve manipulation made to place the 1A
Emergency Diesel Generator on recirculation.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement I)

D. 10 CFR 50, Appendix B, Criterion XI, "Test Control." requires in part that
a test program be established to assure that all testing required to
demonstrate that components will perform satisfactorily in service and
that test results be evaluated to assure that test requirements have been
satisfied. FPL Topical Quality Assurance Report 11.0, Rev 4, "Test
Control." step 11.2.3, "Evaluation of Test Results.” requires that
"...documented test results shall be evaluated against the predetermined
acceptance criteria by a group or individual having appropriate
qualifications."”

Contrary to the above, on May 22, 1993, the licensee failed to adequately
evaluate Unit 1 CEDM coil resistance test results to assure that test
requirements were satisfied as specified in PWO 63/0046 for PC/M 133-191.
This resulted in not identifying and dispositioning 11 CEDMs coils whose
resistance readings did not meet the specified item #11 Acceptance
Criteria of Attachment 4, "PC/M Testing Document "

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement I)

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, the Florida Power & Light C n{ is
hereby required to submit a written statement or explenation to the U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document Control Desk, Washington, D.C. 20555, with
7 copy to the Regional Administrator, Region II. and a copy to the NRC Resident
Inspector at the facility that is the subject of this Notice, within 30 days of
the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice). This
repiy should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation" and should
include for each violation: (1) the reason for the violations, or, if contested,
the basis for disputing the violations, (2) the corrective steps that have been
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taken and the results achieved, (3) the corrective steps that will be taken to
avoid further violations, and (4) the date when full compliance will be achieved.
Your re<~~nco may reference or include previo.s docketed correspordence, if the
correspondence adequately addresses tne required response. If an adequate reply
is not received within the time specified in this Notice, an order or a Demand
for Information may be issued as to why the license should not be modified,
suspended, or revoked, or why such other action as may be proper should not be
taken. Where good cause is shown, consideiation will be given to extending the
response time.

Because your response will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room (PDR), to
the extent possible, it should not include any personal privacy. proprietary, or
safeguards information so that it can be placed in the PDR without reduction.
However, 1f you find it necessary to include such information, you should clearly
indicate the specific information that you desire not to be placed in the PDR,
and provide the legal basis to support your request for withholding the
information from the public.

Dated at Atlanta, Georgia
this day of 19
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Report printed 10 56 am Tuesday. January 14, 1997 7




PREDECTSIONAL
- DRAFT INFORMATION - NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

REGION 11
cense Nos:  DPR-67, WPF16
Report No: 50-335/96-04, 50-389/96-04
Licensee: Florida Power & Light Co.
Facility: St. Lucie Nuclear Plant, Units 1 & 2
l.ocation: 9250 West Flagler Street

Miami, FLL 33102
Dates: February 18 - March 30, 1996

Inspectors: M. Miller, Senior Resident Inspector
S. Sandin, Resident Inspector
M. Thomas, Reactor Inspector, paragraph Ml.2
F. Wright, Reactor Inspector,
Baragraphs R1, R3, RS, R6. R7, and R8
. Chou, Reactor Inspector,
paragraphs 1.2.1 through 1.2.4
E. Lea, Project Engineer.
paragraphs 04.2, 04.4, M8.2, M8.3, and M8.4
J. Coley, Reactor Inspector,
paragraphs M1.2.5 through 1.2.10 and M3.2
85 Moorman, License Examiner, paragraphs 04.3 and

Approved by: K. Landis, Chief, Projects Branch 3
Division of Reactor Projects
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

St. Lucie Nuclear Plant, Units 1 & 2
NRC Inspection Report 50-335/96-04, 50-389/96-04

This integrated inspection included aspects of Ticensee operations, maintenance,
and plant support. The report covers a 6-week period of resident inspection; in
addition, it includes input from regional inspectors in the areas of Maintenance
and Plant Support.

Operations

Operators performed well during @ Unit 1 dropped CEA event on February 22.
Response to the transient, declaration of an Unusual Event, and a manual
reactor trip (inserted when feedwater anomalies were identified) were all
timely and appropriate.

The return to power of Unit 1 was complicated by an attempt to synchronize
to the grid witn the main generator disconnects open. A procedural
weakness was the root cause.

Walkdowns of both units’ Containment Spray systems resulted in the
identification of a number of procedural, drawing and hardware
deficiencies.

Control room observations resulted in the identification cf:

« a failure to employ a procedure for boric acid addition (an
additional example of a previous violation - VIO 96-03-01)

@ failures to make required log entries for reactivity manipulations
and a main generator hydrogen addition (VIO 96-04-02)

A containment gaseous/particulate/iodine monitor was rendered inoperable

due to a failure to follow procedures, combined with a lack of proper

gglé?w through on the part of non-licensed operators taking logs (VIO 96-
-)‘

An Emergency Diesel Generator was rendered inoperable due to a failure to
;g]&gwo ;ocedures while placing the fuel oil tank on recirculation (VIO

The requalification program is supporting management expectations for
operations and covering timely and important topics.

Maintenance

c;\wslxmpmn-ss-u\m.m
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The procedures used for testing and maintenance on a number of observed
maintenance activities were adequate to provide the details for the craft
to perform maintenance. inspec.ion, and calibration. The crafts were
knowledgeable and skillful in doing work. The inspectors were satisfied
with the work performed. However, one weakness was observed for a crew
not sigm‘n? and dating the work copy of the Work Order in the field prior
to physically starting work.

A review of maintenance procedure revision control indicated that the
licensee's program contained vulnerabilities which could result in the
wrong revision to a given procedure being used in the field. The
licensee's corrective actions were satisfactory.

There were weaknesses noted in the licensee’'s maintenance program relative
to the SBCS valves and MFRV.

Reviews of historical data for CEA maintenance revealed that post-
modification testing acceptance criteria for Unit 1 CEA power cables were
not applied to post-modification test data (VIO 96-04-04).

Closeout of an Unresolved Item concerning poor HP work practices exhibited
by maintenance personnel resulted in a non-cited violation for failure to
adhere to Radiation Work Permit requirements (NCV 96-04-05)

Engineering

The en%ineering disposition for a deficiency identified in Unit 1 Boroflex
panel length was reviewed and found to be satisfactory.

Plant Support

Based on interviews with licensee staff. record reviews, and observations
made during tours of licensee facilities; tne inspector found the RP
program to be adequately managed and internal and external exposure
control programs were effectively implemented with all radiation exposures
within 10 CFR Part 20 limits. One non-cited violation was identified
concerning failure to follow procedures for the control of contaminated
tools utilized in the licensee s radiological control area (NCV 96-04-06).

The permanent modifications for cooling Unit 2 Containment Building in
1995 was a positive step in increasing worker efficiency and reducing
collective outage dose and number of personnel contamination events. The
Ed&;ication demonstrated managements commitment to worker safety, RF and

Unplanned maintenance activities and rework sigm’ﬁcantl y increased outage
work in 1995 and was the primary reason the licensee exceeded it's 1995

€ \WP1\DOCLBENT IR- 96 -04\5L9604 MAR
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annual collective dose ?oa1 of 283 person-rem by approximately 129 person-
rem. This was basically a maintenance and operations problem adversely
im~acting the station ALARA program.

C\WPS1\DOCLIENTI 18-96-04\5L9604. WAk
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Report Details
Summary of Plaat Status
Unit 1

Unit 1 operated at full power from the beginning of the inspection period until
February 22. when a manual trip was initiated during a unit shutdown. The
shutdown was the result of a dropped and unrecoverable CEA. The unit achieved
criticality on February 24 and returned to full power operations on February 25.
On March 26, the unit was downpowered for waterbox cleaning. The unit returned
to full power on March 29 and remained at full power through the end of the
inspection period.

Unit 2
Unit 2 operated at essentially full power throughout the inspection period.

1. Operations
01  Conduct of Operations (71707, 61726, 93702)
01.1 General Comments

Using Inspection Procedure 71707, the inspectors conducted frequent
reviews of ongoing plant operations. In general, the conduct of opera-
tions was professional and safety-conscious: specific events and notewor-
thy observations are detailed in the sections below.

01.2 ' IS requir ri

On February 22, at 8:55 a.m.. Urit 1 began FLCEA testing per OP 1-0110050,
"Control Element Assembly Periodic Exercise.” This test is performed at
least once every 92 days in modes 1 or 2 as required by 15 4.1.3.1.2 to
verify Oﬁggability of each full-length CtA not fully inserted. Per the
test methodology. each full-length CEA is inserted at least 7.5 inches.
A1l CEAs in Groups 1, 2 and 3 were successfully exercised. At 10:03 a.m.
when operators were preparing to exercise CEA #57 (the last CEA in Group
4), CEA #20 (Group 2) dropped. Power initially fell to 93 percent.
Operators responded promptly by matching turbine load per ONOP 1-0110030.
"CEA Off-Normal Operation and Realignment." Efforts to recover CEA #20
were unsuccessful and, consequently, a Unit 1 shutdown per TS 3.0.3 and
NOUE occurred.

The inspector was present in the control room and observed the decision-
making process leading to a unit shutdown. Initially, Unit 1 entered TS
3.1.3.1 action statement e. which stated "With one full length CEA

€ \WPS1\DOCLIMENT\ 1R-96.-04\5L9604 WAR
Report printed 10 56 am. Tuesday. January 14, 1997 12




PREDECIS”ONAL
DRAFT INFORMATION - NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

misaligned from any other CEA in its group by 15 or more inches, operation
in Modes 1 and 2 may continue provid-' that the misaligned CEA is
positioned within 7.5 inches of other CEAs in its group within the time
constraints shown in Figure 3.1-1a.” Figure 3.1-1a allowed 60 minutes to
restore CEA group alignment.

At 10:30 a.m., when it became clear that CEA #20 was not recoverable,
action statement f. was entered. Action statement f stated:

“With one full length CEA misaligned from any other CEA in its group
by 15 or more inches beyond the time constraints shown in Figure
3.1-1a, reduce power to less than or equal to 70 percent of rated
thermal power prior to completing action f.1 or f.2.

f.1 Restore the CEA to operable status within the specified
alignment requirements. or

f.2 Declare the CEA inoperable and satisfy the shutdown margin
requirements of Specification 3.1.1.1. After declaring the
CEA inoperable, operation in Modes 1 and 2 may continue
pursuant to the requirements of Specification 3.1.3.6
provided:

a) Within one hour the remainder of the CEAs in the grou
with the inoperable CEA shall be aligned to within 7.
inches of the inoperable CEA while maintaining the
allowable CEA sequence and insertion limits shown on
Figure 3.1-2; the thermal power level shall be
restricted to Specification 3.1.3.6 during subsequent
operation period.

b) The shutdown margin requirement of Specification 3.1.1.1
is determined at 12ast once per 12 hour.. "

The shutdown margin calculation was pérformed using OP 1-0110055,
"Surveillance Requirements for Shutdown Margin, Modes 1 and 2 (Critical).”
There was a discussion between operations and reactor engineering on
whether the more restrictive PDIL of Unit 1's Plant Physics Curve C.5 as
referenced for an immovable CEA were applicable. If so, this would
require reducing power to less than approximately 34 percent within 1
hour. It was concluded that immovable referred to a withdrawn stuck CEA
and was not applicable in this case. However, TC #1-96-33 was issued to
document this clarification.

At 12:00 p.m.. Unit 1 entered TS 3.0.3 since CEA #20 could not be
realigned within the one hour allowed for continued operation. At 12:05
pim., the NPS declared an NOUE based on Increased Awareness due to a

- \WPS1\DOCLBENT\ IR 96 -04\5L9604 WAR
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Shutdown required by Technical Specifications for which the required
shutdown 1s not reached within the action 1imits. Since TS 3.1.3.1 had no
explicit requirement or allowed time associated with a single inoperable
CEA not aligned within 7.5 inches of the other CEAs in the group. the
licensee’s encry into TS 3.0.3 was appropriate. However, the basis for
the declaration of an NOUE was incorrect. TS 3.0.3 stated «When a LCO is
not met, except as provided in the associated action requirements, within
one hour action shall be initiated to place the unit in a mode in which
the specification does not apply by placing it, as agp]icable in at least
hot standby within the next six hours." An NOUE would have been required
if the unit was not in hot standby within seven hours. The inspector
reviewed EPIP 3100022E, "Classification of Emergencies," and concluded
that the NOUE was voluntary based on criteria 6.A. for uﬂuﬁunl_ﬁsﬁnl.
“Emergency Coordinator’s Judgement that plant conditions exist which
warranted increased awareness on the part of the operating staff and/or
local authorities."”

During the shutdcwn at approximately 30 ?ercent power with only the "1B"
MFW pump in service, operators observed fluctuations in SGWLs. An attempt
to take manual control of the "1A" MFRV and prevent overfeeding the SG was
unsuccessful. The NPS directed operators to manually trip the unit at
approximately 26 percent power. Various equipment problems were
encountered following the trip and during restart which are discussed in
paragraphs M2.1 of this report.

gt 1:30 p.m., the NOUE was exitec with Unit 1 stable in hot standby (mode
).

The inspector observed the operators respond to the drop CEA #20 and
1m?1ement the Emergency Plan. Operator response was considered excellent.
All required actions were promptly executed with a minimum of direction
provided by supervision.

The inspectors reviewed the "post‘trip package which was, with the
exceptions noted in paragraph M1.2, considered acceptable.

On February 23, at 9:00 a.m., Unit 1 commenced a startup. During
withdrawal of Shutdown Bank "A" for an operability check, CEA #47 drogged
from 12 inches to the bottom. At 11:55 a.m. the remaining Shutdown Bank
"A" CEAs were driven to the bottom and the startup terminated. A
containment entry was made for I&C troubleshooting of CEA #47 problem.
See paragraph M1.2 of this report for a discussion of CEA troubleshooting
issues.

Unit 1 completed a second startup and was returned to service on February
24. "See paragraph 01.3 of this report

C\WE51\DOCUMENT\ K96 415L9604 AR
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01.3 Unit 1 Switchvard Electrical Misalianment
RIT 96-A-0039

On February 24, at 2:15 a.m., Unit 1 commenced a second startup with entry
into Mode 1 on February 25. at 12:33 a.m. After closing the Main
Generator Output Breaker during synchronization with the Grid, operators
received annunciator C-29, "GENERATOR MOTORING.” and noted that the
synchroscope continued to rotate. The Main Generator Output Breaker was
opened to prevent a backup lockcut and Generator trip. The licensee
determined that both Unit 1 Generator Disconnects, 8GZ27 and 8G29, were
open (the Main Generator disconnects are opened per procedure if the unit
is off-1ine more than 4 hours by either OPF 1-0030125, "Turbine Shutdown -
Full Load to Zero Load." step 8.29 or, in this case, 1-EOP-02, "Reactor
Trip Recovery,"” step 20). TC 1-96-036 to OP 1-0030124, "Turbine Startup
Zero to Full Load," was issued to restore the switchyard lineup following
which, the Main Generator was successfully synchronized to the Grid.

The inspector had several concerns regarding the switchyard misalignment :

° No STAR or IHE was generated documenting that an inadequate
procedure was identified during use which resulted in an
anticipatory alarm that a generator backup lockout would occur. An
Operations Department Problem Report (Data Sheet 7) was completed,
however, AP No. 0010120 Rev 79, "Conduct of Operations" step 8.D
states that "Problem reports should be utilized to supplement other
reporting and corrective processes; i.e., LER, IHE."

& Compieted OP 1-0030124 did not document any repeated steps following
the initial failure to synchronize to the grid as reported in the
RCO log entry of 3:55 a.m.

o OP 1-0030124 was revised in Octnber 1995 adding a before step
8.1 which stated "If startup of the turbine is a result of a turbine
trip OR Turbine shutdown and the cause has been corrected, Then the
subsequent restart can be commenced with Section 8.3." This
revision failed to provide a separate verification that the Unit 1
Generator Disconnects, 8G27 and 8G29. were CLOSED as was
accomplished in step 8.1.4 1f steps 8.1 and 8.2 were not performed.

[ TC 1-96-036 added the above verification as step 8.3.1 resequenci
all other steps in section 8.3. Since the completed OP 1-003012
did not document any repeated steps, the inspector concluded that
this step was performed out-of-sequence.

° Couﬁleted EOPs are discarded after use since only blocks are checked
with no signatures. This precludes an independent verification that

C \WPS1\DOCENT\ 1R-96- 0415, 9604 MR
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a particular step was or was not performed.

The liccnsee initiated a Data Sheet 7 (Operations Departront Problem
Report) to document this event. Unit 1 completed the power ascension
without further incident.

-

Operational Status of Facilities and Equipment (71707)
ngi Featur 1

The inspectors used Inspection Procedure 71707 to walk down accessible
portions of the following ESF systems:

a. During the week of March 4, the inspector performed a walkdown of
the Unit 1 Containment Spray System. This consisted of a review of
the foliowing procedures and en?ineering drawings and verification
of current system alignment including:

® OP 1-0420020, Rev 31, "Containment Spray - Initial Valve
Alignment”

. ONOP 1-0030131. Rev 62, "Plant Annunciator Summary"

@ Applicable Engineering Drawings

The following discrepancies were noted:

(1) OP 1-0420020, Rev 31, "Containment Spray - Initial Valve
Alignment”

® V07230 was listed as Locked Closed, however, no lock was
installed.

. V07163 and vu7191 positions were given as Closed
although they were Administratively Controlled as Locked
Closed per AP 1-0010123 gnd did have locks installed.

« Precaution 4.1 stated that "Certain valves in this
system are aligned for shutdown cooling and must not be
repositioned without considering the impact upon
shutdown cooling. These valves will be designated.”
The following valves were not designated as shown in OP
1-0010123 (sheets 43, 46, and 52):

. V07161 (sh. 43)., V07164 (sh. 46) and MV-07-3A,
MV-07-3B (sh. 52) were designated "Locked Closed
when Shutdown Cooling in service."

i - V07130 was Locked Closed during cooldown and

IR-96-04\509604 MAR
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should have been annotated by Note 2, "These
valves are positioned as part of heatup and
cooldown.”

MV-07-1A and MV-07-1B were annotated with Note 2,
however, they were not repositioned Locked Closed per OP
1-0030127 (Cooldown) and OP 1-0030121 (Heatup - sh. 14,
15) only ensured that these valves were Open or Locked

Open.
V07160 had no valve tag or other identifier.

V07224 and V07225 descriptions were not consistent with
AP 1-0010123.

SE-07-1A, SE-07-2A, SE-07-1B, SE-07-2B descriptions were
not consistent with RTGB-106 tag identification.

(2) ONOP 1-0030131, Rev 62, "Plant Annunciator Summary"

€ \WPS1\COCURENT\ 1R-96 541 5L¢ 504 AR
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Annunciator R-2 CAUSTIC TANK PRESS HIGH

Setpoint 7 psig was incorrect. PIS-07-7 was set at 8
psig increasing (TEDB).

Annunciator R-12 CAUSTIC TANK LEVEL LOW/LOW-LOW
Setpoint in TEDB was given as 65" decreasing and 3"
decreasing. Gallonage was from strapping table which
was not referenced. The Sensing Element LIS-07-7D only .
closed one of four NaOH admission valves. The other
three closed on a Caustic Tank Level Low-Low setpoint of
3" decreasing from LIS-07-7A, LIS-07-78 and LIS-07-7C.
Annunciator R-21 CONTMT SPRAY HEADER A PRESS LOW

Sensing element was identified as PT-07-3A, rather than
PIS-07-3A appearing on CWD 362

Annunciator R-22 CONTMT SPRAY HEADER B PRESS LOW

Sensing element was identified as PT-07-3B rather than
P1S-07-3B appearing on CWD 362

Annunciator R-31 CONTMT SPRAY FCV-07-1A FAIL TO OPEN
Setpoint of 10 seconds after OPEN signal was not shown
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on CWD 289. CWD showed alarm after 15 seconds.
Annunciator k-32 CONTMT SPRAY FCV-07-1B FAIL TO OPEN

Setpoint of 10 seconds after OPEN signal was not shown
on CWD 289. CWD showed alarm after 15 seconds.

(3) Engineering Drawing

8770-G-088, “Flow PMiagram Containment Spray and
Refueling Water Systems,” Rev 31

LT 07-74 is shown 1solated by V07237 and V07244. Field
verification found junction box with cable to LT
labelled as LT 07-7C.

LT 07-7C is shown isolated by V072387 and V07243. Field
verification found junction box with cable to LT
labelled as LT 07-7A.

V07223, V07230 and V07233 were not shown as Locked
Closed.

V07152 1B SDC HX Outlet vent was installed at the bottom
of the pipe, thus appearing unable to vent the pife. In
contrast, Y071.8 1A SDC HX Outlet vent was installed on
the top of the pipe.

(4) OP 1-0010123, Rev 100, "Administrative Control of Valves,
Locks and Switches"”

C:\WPS1\DOCLMENT\ IR-96-04\SL9604 MAR

V07223, V07230 and V07233 were Locked Closed in OP 1-
0420020, however, none were Administratively Controlled
per AP 1-0010123.. r

V07145, V07130, V07255, V07257 (sh. 72), and V07271,
V07272 (sh. 74) were not designated “"Valves Locked
Closed if Shutdown Cooling in service or less than 1750
psia RCS Pressure” as was done for Unit 2.

MV-07-3A and MV-07-3B (sh. 43, 46 and 52) appeared in
Appendix "F." TC# 2-95-683 transferred the functionally
equivalent valves MV-07-3 and MV-07-4 from Appendix "F"
to Appendix “L." MV-07-3A and MV-07-3B were also
repositioned by OP 1-0030127 (Cooldown). This was
identified as an inconsistency between Units.
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During the week of March 11, the inspector performed a walkdown of
the Unit 2 Containment Spray System. This consisted of a review of
the following procedures and en?.neering drawings and verification
of current system alignment including:

@ 0P 2-0420020, Rev 19, “Containment Spray <4nitial Valve
Alignment"

. ONOP 2-0030131, Rev 50, "Plant Annunciator Summary"

@ Applicable Engineering Drawings

The following discrepancies were noted:

(1) OP 2-0420020, Rev 19, "Containment Spray Initial Valve
Alignment"

* V07106, V07390 through V07393, V07191 and V07163
positions were given as Closed although they were
88T8T£§trat1vely Controlled as Locked Closed per AP 2-

® MV-07-3 and MV-07-4 positions were given as OEen
although they were Administratively Controlled as Locked
Open by keyswitch at RTGB-206 per AP 2-0010123.

® V29429 and V29430 (Nitrogen Supply) were not included in
initial lineup as was cone for Unit 1.

. V3868 2A SDC HX Outlet Vent was omitted from lineup.

“ Valves whose positions would be verified by control room
indication. e.g. SE-07-3A, SE-07-3b, Mv-u/-1A, MV-07-1B,
MV-07-3, MV-07-4, etc., were rot identified as was done
for Unit 1.

& Precaution 4.1 stated that "Certain valves in this
system are aligned for shutdown cooling and must not be
repositioned without considering the impact upon
shutdown cooling. These valves will be designated.”
The following valves were not designated as shown in OP
2-0010123 (sheets 51, 54, 84 and 85):

° V07162 (sh. 51) and V07165 (sh. 54) were
designated "Locked Closed when Shutdown Cooling
in service."

. V07145, V07130 (sh.85), and SH07248, SH07252,
SH07253 (sh.84) were designated “Valves Locked

O 96-04\5L9604 MAR
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Closed if Shutdown Cooling in service or less
than 1750 psia RCS Pressure.”

(2) ONOP 2-0030131, Rev 50, "Plant Annunciator Summary"

Annunciator S-10 HYDRAZINE TK LEVEL LO =

Setpoint of 35.5 inches was incorrect. PCM 109-294
issued 9/16/94 changed setpoint to 36.7 inches. TEDB
has no reference to this setpoint.

Annurciator S-20 HYDRAZINE TK LEVEL LO-LO

Auto Action that Hydrazire pumps 2A/2B stop was
unrelated to Sensing Element LIS-07-9. Sensing Elements
LS-07-10A and LS-07-10B stog?ed Hydrazine Pumps 2A and
E?Sagg Slosed SE-07-3A and 3B at the same setpoint as

(3) Engineering Drawing

2998-G-088, “Flow Diagram Containment Spray and
Refueling Water Systems." Rev 23, Sh 1

V07101 (B6) and V07106 (D4) were shown as Closed instead
of Locked Closed.

V07334 (F5) and V07335 (G5) were shown as Open instead
of Locked Open.

“LOW LEVEL STOPS PUMP & CLOSES VALVE" (F1 and F3) was
incorrect. The note should have read "LOW-LOW LEVEL
STOPS PUMP & CLOSES VALVE."

2998-G-088, "Flow Diaéram Containment Spray and
Refueling Water Systems", Rev 23, Sh 2

V07390 through V07393, V07191 and V07163 (C2-3, D2-3)
were shown as Closed instead of Locked Closed.

(4) 0P 2-0010123, Rev 69, "Administrative Control of Valves, Locks
and Switches"”

C:\WPS1\DOCLRENT\ IR-96-(4\SL9604 MAR

§6.1 incorrectly references St. Lucie Unit 1 UFSAR.

TC# 2-95-683 transferred valves MV-07-3 and MV-07 -4 from
Appendix “F" to Appendix "L" and stated the reason for
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the change, in part, as "MV-07-3&4 are to be closed
until mode 3/1750 psia." however, the change failed to
annotate the position with “#", "Valves Locked Closed if
Shutdown Cooling in service or less than 1750 psia RCS
Pressure” as *~nears on sh. 84,

. Note "#." "Valves Locked Closed if Shutdown Cooling in
service” on sh. 85 was not complete. It should have
included "or less than 1750 psia RCS Pressure” - see OP
2-0030127 (Cooldown).

o gg# k2-95-688. Section G, "Authorization Date" left
ank .

The licensee documented the inspectors findings on STAR 951515 and PMAI-
96-03-102 and 403.

Equipment o?erab111ty, material condition, and housekeeping were accept-
able in all cases. Several minor discrepancies were brought 1> the
licensee’'s attention and were corrected. The inspectors identified two
areas of concern as a result of these walkdowns:

a. On Unit 1, the licensee's failure to identify and correct during
previous system alignments the misidentification of LT 07-7A and LT
07-7C as noted in paragraph 02.1.a(3) above.

b. On Unit 2, the licensee's failure in implementing PCM 109-294
Attachment 1 (TEDB) and the Other Affected Documents "Plant to
identify any affected procedure which may require revision due to
this modification, including the annunciator procedures” as noted in
paragraph 02.1.b(2) above.

02.2 Equipment Clearances

The inspectors independently verified the ?ol]owing equipment clearances
for correctness:

a. 1-96-02-125 on Feed Reg Backup Air - This clearance consisted of
four tags isolating the Backup Air supplies to FCV-9011, FCV-9021,
1A MSIV Accumulator and the 1B MSIV Accumulator, which were no
longer in use. All tags were in place and the valves were in the
correct position. During verification, the inspector identified two
discrepancies to the ANPS and the Work Control Center:

_ (1) Two of the tags were weathered and needed to be replaced.
(2) Twenty Administratively Controlled valves, i.e. all of the
¢ "1A" and "1B" MSIV valves listed in Appendix N of AP 1-0010123

C:\WPS1\DOCLRIENT\ IR-96-04\5L9604 MAR
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Rev 100, "Administrative ontroil | vd
Switches had locks installed. however. none
placards attached a requirad by AP (0]
ibeling/Tagging of Plant tquipment,k” step
valves on Unit 2 were removed as Administrati
valves by TC #2-95-688 issued December 29

nave I*VJHM_} devices 1nstalled

1 ¥ | +

96-03-132 on replacement of HVA-3B This clearance consisted

two tags isolating the electrical supply to the HVA-3B. Both t:
were in place and the breakers 1n the correct position

[

1)
iUD

1-96-03-134 on MV-09-14 Cross-Tie between AFW Pump "1B" discharge to
SG "1A" This clearance consisted of one tag isolating the

electrical supply The tag was in place and the breaker in the

correct position

no aro Dinr
densate Pump

Dower
Lhe

Lrane

inn )
,J‘vp 1y
n

T

The inspectors noted th Uperations appears LO De 1mpro
of attention 0 deta n clearance preparation

Operations Procedures and Documentation (61726)

OP 3200051, Rev 16 At Power Determination of Moderator Temperature

{ oeffic 1ent anda L)wpy | y».(va? ficient "

’

" o~ o A - . 1'( - 4
This procedure provided the method for determining MIC at power and wa
- »
},

performed per 1S 4.1.1.4.2.c which required verification that MIC was
within 7S 3.1.1.4 Timits "At any THERMAL POWER, within EFPD after
reaching a RATED THERMAL POWER equilibrium boron concentration of 300
ppm. "

On March Unit 1 commenced the MIC test During insertion of CEA #]
from 105 inches to 104 inches to maintain deita T power at 100 percent,
CEA #1 dropped. Operators entered ONOP 1-0110030, "CEA Off-Normal," and
took the required actions to reestablish CEA alignment The MTC test was
exited and a8 STAR written to investigate and correct the cause of the
dropped CEA. Vendor representatives were called onsite to evaluate the

WP ux.;ﬁu‘ IR-96-04\50 9604 MAR

Report printed 10 56 am  Tuesday. Jonuary 14 199




PREDECISIONAL
" DRAFT INFORMATION - NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

previous visicorder readings taken on CEA #1 following replacement of the
timer card on March 2 (NPWO 63/5079) .

After a discussion with Operations, I& (in conjunction with a
independent vendor review) concluded, after performing a system evaluation
and procedural review, that the CEA #1 drop may have beem a result of
"operator technique." i.e. allowing the Rod Control System to stop inward
CEA motion before depressing the CEA Motion Inhibit (CMI) bypass to resume
inward motion and releasing the CMI bypass switch prematurely after
stopping CEA inward motion. TC #0-96-031 to the MTIC procedure provided
clear instructions to operators on use of the CMI bypass pushbutton
momentary switch to preclude dropping a CEA.

On March 6, the inspectors attended a management review meeting where a

plan of action was adopted prior to recommencing the MIC test on March 7.

It was decided at this meeting that CEA #1 would be declared INOPERABLE

during connection and removal of test equipment. This decision was based

82Aadvo]untary entry into TS 3.1.3.1 for planned maintenance should the
rop.

On March 7, the inspector attended the pretest brief held in the Unit 1
control room. The brief was thorough and 1ncluded the management decision
to declare CEA #1 INOPERABLE during installation and removal of test

equipment .

The inspector remained in the control room during performance of the test
and made the following observations:

" CEA #1 was declared INOPERABLE during installation and removal of
test equipment with no Equipment Out-Of-Service Log entry made.

CEA #1 was paralleled to CEA #68 during installation and removal of
test equipment. This ensured that loosening terminal block
connections could not inadvertently cause CEA #1 to drop. However,
any attempt to move a paralleled CEA would result in a drop since a
paralleled CEA receives power to the Upper Gripper coil only. Thus,
operggors logged CEA #1 INOPERABLE and entered TS 3.1.3.1.c which
stated:

"With one full Tlength CEA inoperable due to causes other than
addressed by Action a above. but within its above specified
alignment requirements and either fully withdrawn or within the Tong
term steady state insertion limits if in CEA group 7. operation in
MODES 1 and 2 may continue."”

' TS 3.1.3.1.a described "inoperable CEAs" as those CEAs bein
¢ immovable as a result of excessive friction or mechanica

€ \WPS1\DOCKMENT\ [R-96 -04\5L9604 WAR
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interference or known to be untrippable. Thus, CEA #1 was not
1nogerab1e per TS, as it both satisfied alignment criteria and was
mechanically free to perform it safety function.

Following a discussion with the ANPS, the inspector concluded that
the failure to complete an Equipment Out-Of-Service g entry was a
cognitive error attributable to several factors:

- The decision to declare CEA #1 INOPERABLE and enter TS
3.1.3.1.c for installation and removal of test equipment was
briefed as part of the test evolution and entirely voluntary.

2 7S 3.1.3.1.c had no action times ascociated with an LCO.

For the above reasons, the inspector concluded that operators viewed
this as being centrolled within the context of an infrequently
performed test or evolution and forgot the administrative
requirement for entry in the Out-Of-Service Log. Although the
requirement to complete an Equipment Out-Of-Service Log entry was
not met, the inspector attributed the cause to simple cognitive
error with no safety significance. The inspector’s evaluation of
safety significance is based on:

" RCO log entries documenting installation and removal of test
equipment for CEA #1 which clearly identified when the CEA was
considered inoperable.

. CEA #1 remained capable of performing its safety function at
all times.

“ Independent verification of I&C jumper suspect.

18C installed a jumper per step 8.5.1 of the test procedure in order
to clear CWP and allow CEA. withdrawal to avoid a trip. The
inspector observed both the installation and somewhat informal
independent verification. The technician who performed the
independent verification pointed out the location where the jumper
was to be installed before installation and remained at the
instrument cabinet during installation. The Maintenance Manager,
who was in the control room at the time, questioned the adequacy of
the independent verification and had an I&C Supervisor reverify the
jumper. The jumper was reverified to be properly installed. The
inspector found the Maintenance Manager was proactive in recognizing
this potential error.

e  Verification step in test procedure signed in error.

€ \WPST\DOCYRENT\ IR -96.- 041519604 WAR
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Step 8.4 verified that RCS boron concentration was stable based on
two consecutive samples taken at 15 minute intervals with a
difference between the RCS and J)ressurizer of less than or equal to
25 ppm. The Test Specialist had verified this step as complete with
three samples recorded at 30 minute intervals. The inspector
brought this to the attention ¢f the NPS to emsure that an
additional two samples would be tzken per the 15 minute criteria.

The 1inspector questioned the Test Specialist the following day
regarding this matter. The Test Specialist stated that it was his
intention to request additional RCS samples as required and
27, nowledged that he had signed this step in error. The inspector
revi ewed several completed MTC procedures including the aborted one
pertormed on March 4, and concluded that the Test Specialist was
aware of the 15 minute interval requirement.

In general, the inspector concluded that this infrequent test was
performed satisfactorily. However, 1t should be pointed out that neither
the Test Specialist or Management Designee assigned to provide Management
Oversight 1identified the above three discrepancies. The 1inspector
reviewed the completed MTC test procedure and found no discrepancies.

Operator Knowledge and Performance (71707, 71715)

Failure to Follow Conduct of Operations Procedure

IR 95-03, which addressed an overdilution event on Unit 1, noted that
operators had not loyed the appropriate procedure in performing the
subject dilution he inspectors noted that AP 0010120, "Conduct of
Operations."” Appendix M, “Procedural Compliance and Implementation,”
stated that procedures would be implemented and complied with by operators
and described tasks, considered to be "skill of the trade," which did not
require a procedure in-hand dum‘ncg)o performance of the specified
activities. The inspectors noted that boron concentration control was not
one of the evolutions considered to be "skill of the trade." The failure
of the operator performing the dilution at the time to employ OP 1-
0250020, "Boron Concentration Controi - Normal Operation,” was cited as a
violation of AP 0010120,

On February 22, while touring the Unit 2 control room, the inspector
observed operators adding boric acid to the VCT for temperature control.
At the completion of the evolution, the inspector noted that the operators
had not employed a procedure for the evolution. The inspector questioned
the ANPS overseeing the activity as to the need to employ the procedure.
A review of AP 0010120 indicated that boron concentration control was
sti11 not considered "skill of the trade."
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The licensee investigated the issue and reported that the subject
ﬁ:rocedure had been out and available previously in the shift. The
icensee determined that the procedure had been put away sometime during
the shift in preparation for tours by NRC senior manacers, who were onsite
for the public SALP meeting conducted on that date. The inspector
concluded that the failure of the operators to employ OP 2-0250020. "Boron
Concentration Control - Normal Operation," constituted a violation of AP
0010120, "Conduct of Operations.” However, as the licensee had not had an
opportunity to describe and execute their corrective action to the
violation described in IR 96-03, the incident is cited as an additional
example of EEI 335,389/96-03-01, "Operators Failed to Follow Procedures
for Boron Diluticn, Watch Turnover, Procedure Adherence, and Event

Reporting.”
Unit 1 Containment FIG Rendered 005 Due to Personnel Error

Following the Unit 1 trip of February 22, a number of containment entries
were made to troubleshoot CEAs. In preparation for one such entry, an HP
technician was dispatched to obtain a grab sample of the containment
atmosphere on February 22, at 1:55 p.m. The methodology for obtaining the
sample involved attaching a removable air sampling device to quick
disconnect fittings which placed the device in a parallel path to the air
flow moving through the PIG unit. A valve (procedurally designated as
valve 3) located between the quick connects was then to be throttled
closed to force the air flow through the sample device at a pro lermined
rate. A sample was then to be taken for a minimum of 30 minut  at which
time the throttle valve was to be returned to its open ro° Lion and the
sggp]e device was to be isolated at the quick disconnect. d removed from
the unit.

When the HP technician performed the sample, he failed to return the
throttle valve to its open position. The result was that flow through the
PIG was reduced to approximately 15 percent of the intended value,
rendering the PIG inoperable. The licensep's 1nvest13ation o1 the event
revealed that the HP technician failed to employ HPP-22, Rev 2, "Air
Sampling.” Step 7.5.1.R required that, upon completion of the sampling,
valve 3 be returned to the full open position. In fact, the subject step
was proceeded by a caution statement stating that valve 3 must be returned
to the full open position. The failure of the HP technician to employ the
governing procedure for obtaining air samples is one example of a
violation (VIO 335/96-04-01, "Failures to Follow Procedures Lead to Unit
1 Containment PIG Inoperability").

The PIG remained in its inoperable state until February 24. when a
chemistry technician performing an unrelated task noted the indicated flow
through the PIG at a value much lower than normal (a fraction of one scfm,
vice 2.5 to 3.5 scfm required by procedure), which resulted in the
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identification of the PIG's inoperability and i1ts return to service.
During that time, SNPOs recorded the lower-than-normal flow values during
lGywun:ng rounds once per shift. Operacors employed data loggers (small
hand-held computers) to take logs, and when a given parameter was sensed
to be out-of-specification by the computer, the operator was prompted to
enter the data again to verify that the out-of-specificatton value was,
indeed, the intended value. In the case of PIG air flow, SNPOs 1ogged the
data twice each round without pursuing the cause for the low reading.

AP 0010120, Rev 79, "Conduct of rations, Appencix F, "Log Keeping,"
stated, in part, "Log readings shall be compared to previous readings to
detect abnormal trends or conditions and verified to L'e within the minimum
and maximum values for that parameter. All log readings outside the
min/max values shall be circled with reasons stated for abnormal
readings..." The failure of SNPOs to identify the low flow condition of
the Unit 1 containment PIG and to provide reasons for the observed
Eerformance is an example of a violation (VIO 96-04-01, “"Failures to
ollow Procedures Lead to Unit 1 Containment PIG Inoperability").
Additionally, the direction that out-of-specification values should be
“circied" indicated that the procedure was not current, as the direction
was a clear reference to paper logs (the predecessor of the data loggers).
which had not been employed for some time by SNPOs.

On February 24, the unit was taken critical, resulting in a change from
Mode 3 to Mode 2. TS 3.0.4 stated that "Entry into an OPERATIONAL MODE or
other specified applicability condition shall not be made when the
conditions of the Limiting Condition for Operation are not met..." Unit
1 entered Mode 2 on 5:13 a.m. on February 24 with the containment PIG
inoperable. TS 3.4.6.1 requires the PIG to be operable in mode 2. As a
result of the violations detailed above, the licensee transitioned from
Mode 3 to Mode 2 in contradictiun of TS 3.0.4.

The inspectors concluded that a number of barriers to failure were
bre?cggd in this event. The specific actions relating to those barriers
included:

n An HP technician performed an activity without availing himself of
the aBpropriate procecure

e The HP technician failed to properly reposition a valve

5 SNPOs failed, on multiple opportunities, to determine the cause for
out-of-specification log readings

- SR?S reviewing log uata did not identify the out-of-specification
values

. The Conduct of rations procedure appendix which discussed log

, taking was out-of-date, with no current methodology describing how
to identify out-of-specification values in the new, "paperiess.”
. logtaking environment .
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3 A low flow alarm setpoint for the PIG appeared to be set
nonconservatively, as it was based on a no-flow, rather than low
gl?w,)condition (see discussion of LER-specified correciive actions

elow

The inspector reviewed the licensee's discussion of the event in LER 335
96-003-00, "Containment Particulate and Gasecus Monitor Out of Service
Resulting in a Condition Prohibited by Technical Specifications Due to
Personnel Error." 1In the LER, the licensee described corrective actions
which included:

° Disciplining the HP technician involved in the event.

@ Enhancement of both units’ logs to include a written explanation for
out-of-specification readings.

B Incorporating sign-offs in HP procedures for actions invoivirg the
manipulation of plant equipment.

® Reviewing the event with HP personnel emphasizing procedural
compliance.

The inspector reviewed Rev 3 to HPP-22, and noted that the new revision
included requirements that the control room be notified at the beginning
and end of containment sampling (new requirements) and that independent
verifications be made of valve positions following sampling. Similar
changes were made to the procedure for Unit 2 sampling.

The inspector discussed the event with the Operations Supervisor and asked
whether, in the past. the PIGs were declared inoperable when sampling
occurred and was informed that they had not, but that they would in the
future. The inspector concluded that the licensee's corrective actions
for the short term appeared adequate; however, the licensee may not have
adequately bounded the issue in the LER's treatment. Specifically. the
LER did not discuss what other pieces of equipment were operated by
personnel other than operations which may be susceptible to similar
errors, nor did the licensee discuss what actions, 1f any were taken to
ensure that SNPOs understand the importance of questionino out-of-
specification data. The inspector will follow these issues ir closing the
subject LER.

In summary, the inspector found that the undetected inoperability of the
subject component was the result of not employing a procedure while
performing a grab sample. The condition was extended in time due to
inadequate logtaking on the part of non-licensed operators and inadequate
review of the logs taken. As a result of these failures. a violation of
TS occurred when a reactor startup was performed with the component 0CS.
Additional weaknesses included a logging procedure which was not up-to-
date, and an historical failure on the part of Uperations to declare the
containment PIG 00S when grab sampling was taking place.
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04.3 Control Room Observation

The inspector observed control room operations in both units at verious
times during the inspection period of March 25-29, 1996. Observation of
steady state glant operations and shift turnover were conducted to
determine if the operators were ogerating the plant in aCcordance with
plant procedures and guidelines. The inspector compared observed operator
performance to the requirements and guidelines for operator performance in
AP 0010120, Rev 80, "Conduct of Operations.” This procedure covered
topics such as procedure compliance and implementation, communications,
crew relief/shift turnover and log keeping among others. To fulfill one
of the corrective actions to the recent overdilution event (see IR 96-03),
Operations Management reinforced through operating crew briefings their
expectations in "Conduct of Operations.” Particular emphasis was placed
on notification of Operations Management, log keeping, focus on reactivity
thanges, and the short term turnover process. In a letter to the NRC
dated March 6, 1996, the licensee stated that the above stated corrective
action was complete.

Operator conduct in the control room was generally business-like and
professional. The inspector observed no unauthorized reading material in
the control room and noted that the majority of conversations between
operators concerned plant operation. Plant policy concerning
communications between operators was stated in AP 0010120, Anpendix L.
"Communications," and provided guidelines for face-to-face comr nications.
The appendix stated that face-to-face communications should include
repeat-backs with confirmation (three-way communications). Face-to-face
communication between the operators was rarely conducted in accordance
with this guidance. The inspector observed one conversation during which
a repeat-back was used, and this was not followed by a confirmation.

The RCO maintained a chronological log to document events and rator
actions of importance. The requirements for maintaining the chronological
log were stated in AP 0010120, Appendix F, "Log Keeping." Among the 1tems
that were required to be entered in the RCO chronological log were
reactivity manipulations and abnormal conditions related to turbine-
generator auxiliary systems. The inspector observed the Unit 1 RCO
perform two RCS dilutions of 300 gallons each on March 27, 1996. A review
of the RCO logs the next day indicated that not onl 8 were the two observed
reactivity manipulations not entered into the RCO chronological log as
required, but there were no log entries for dilutions. The initial log
entry made when assuwing the shift included the statement "Board RCO
diluting periodically to maintain RCS temperature.” Discussions with the
ANPS indicated that he thought this general log entry was adequate to
comply with log keeping requirements. However, the shift before and the
shift after log?ed two and seven dilutions, respectively. in addition to
making a general log entry addressing the need to dilute more than normal.
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The shift turnover meeting between the off-going day shift and the on-
coming peak shift on March 27 included information that the Unit 1 main
?enerator hydrogen cooling system pressure needed to be increased due to

0oss from a slow leak. When the ANPS was asked whether this should be
conducted using the Norma! Operating procedure or the Off-Normal Operating
Procedure, the ANPS expressed no preference for either and told the SNPO
to choose one. The inspector determined the next day from the SNPO logs
that the Unit 1 main generator hydrogen pressure was increased at
approximately 6:30 p.m. The SNPO logs did not say which procedure was
used, however, discussions with the operators indicated that the ONOP for
loss of main generator hydrogen was typically used since it did not
require an extensive valve line-up and could be conducted in a minimal
amount of time. The next day, the inspector reviewed the peak shift RCO
logs and determined that the Unit 1 main generator hydrogen pressure
increase was not entered into the RCO chronological log as required. The
failure to enter the above three events into the RCO Chronological as
required 1s identified as a violation (VIO 50-335/96-04-02, "Failure To
Make Required Log Entries”).

At the exit interview, the plant manager and operations manager stated
that 1t was not their expectation that the operators log every reactivity
manipulation when frequent manipulations were required to balance a
transient. They stated that since the initial shift log entry had
included the statement "Board RCU diluting periodically to maintain RCS
temperature,” there was no need to log each individual dilution.

Based on the above, the inspector concluded that implementation of AP
0010120, "Conduct of Operations," was spotty and that plant management and
operations would benefit from a more rigorous implementation of the
procedure.

Inoperable £EDG Due to Operator Error ‘

On January 5, in IHE Number 96-02, the licensee identified an event in
which 1mproger valve 1ine up for recirculating the 1A DFOST occurred. An
improper valve line-up occurred following a request made by chemistry to
operations to place the 1A DFOST on recirculation for sampling. The
subject valve 1ineup resulted in the inadvertent inoperability of the EDG.
Based on the review of the event there were procedure violations committed
by operations, communication problems and trairing deficiencies.

Details of the events are as follows. The Unit 1 RCO was contacted at
1:30,a.m. by chemistry to place the 1A DFOST on recirculation. The Unit
1 SNPO was contacted and asked to complete the task. There were no
indications that the RCO directed the SNPO to perform the task according
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to OP-1-2200050A, Rev 24, "1A Emergency Diesel Generator Periodic Test and
General Operating Instructions,” Appendix E (which provided the necessary
guiuaie). The SNPO performed the function by closing the discharge of
the DFO transfer pump (creating a flow path back to the DFOST via the
?ump‘s minimum flow 1ine), as opposed to establishing the procedure-based

ineup through DFOST cross-connect and truck fill piping (whrich would have
allowed the DFO transfer pump to replenish the 1A EDG day tank, should
such replenishment be necessary, thus ensuring EDG operability). The
failure of the SNPO to establish the appropriate valve lineup for the
DFOST recirculation is one example of a violation (VIO 50-335/96-04-03,
"Failure to Follow Procedures While Placing EDG Fuel 0i1 Tank on
Recirculation”).

At 2:45 a.m., primary chemistry contacted the control room to determine
the status of the 1A DFOST. The RCO contacted the SNPO concerning the
completion of the task. The SNPO reported that the task had been completed
since 2:00 a.m. There was no indication that the SNPO reported back to
the control room that the task had been completed. Step 5.A.9 of Appendix
A in Conduct Of Operations stated that the SNPO "Shall report promptly to
the control room any equipment or valve manipulations so that the RCO will
be aware of the current Plant Status." The failure of the SNPO to advise
the control room of the completion of the assigned task 1s one example of
a viola.ion (VIO 96-04-03, "Failure to Follow Procedures While Placing EDG
Fuel 0i1 Tank on Recirculation").

Licensed operators are typically trained to give instruction as to what
procedure and section of the procedure should be completed 1in order to
perform a task or evolution. In some instances the control room operator
will give specific instruction on what must be done to complete a task.
Following conversations with the licensee. the inspector confirmed that
operators are trained to provide direction in the manner described above.

A review of documentation associated wiih the event and interview with
licensee personnel indicated that the SNPQ was not aware of procedural
steps for placing the DFOST on recirculation. The fact that the SNPO was
not aware of the procedural steps is an indication of training inadequacy
or weaknesses. Also there is no indication that the SNPO was instructed
by the licensed operator to perform the evolution per the applicable
procedure until the licensed operator realized that the system was
improperly aligned. Following conversations with training personnel the
ins?ector confirmed that during operator licensing training, operators
would give the procedure number and steps to be completed in order to
perform the task. The procedure number and steps would be given to the
individual performing the task. It was also confirmed that the individual
compjeting the task wsuld report back to the control room once the
assigned task was completed. This is as example of both the Ticensed
operator and the non-licensed operator not performing as trained.
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05  Operator Training and Qualification (71715, 92901)
05.1 Li rator lification Progr

The inspector observed portions of licensed operator requalification
training that were conducted during the inspection period. =This included
simulator training directed by the training department and a classroom
sgssignf\ed by the shifts' Nuclear Plant Supervisor, the senior person on
the shift.

The simulator session provided training and practice for the crew on a
rapid plant downpower maneuver necessitated by jellyfish intrusion into
the circulating water system. The downpower was followed by a loss of
power to an electrical bus that caused loss of running circulating water
pumps and presented conditions that eventually caused a reactor trip The
instructor emphasized conduct of operations 1ssues to the crew and their
importance to safe plant operation. He also provided a good synopsis of
management expectations for professional conduct in the control room and
of the need to improve from the level that currently exists. This meant
that the requalification simulator training would, for future sessions,
require the operators to Jwactice and strictly adhere to the conduct of
operations guidelines and requirements. Previous training had mostly
focussed on the technical aspect of plant operations with little or no
emphasis on conduct of operations. Log keeping was emphasized to the
crew. However, the training department was unable to provide the
operators with a 1agtop computer on which to keep logs the way they are
kept in the plant. Proper communication techniques were emphasized by the
instructor. However, during the scenario, these techniques were rarely
used. During the downpower practice, the operators allowed some plant
parameters to get outside of their normal operating limits. The
instructor highlighted this to the operator. and explained how their focus
was on just conpletin? the downpower and not accomplishing the downpower
within the operating limits of the plant. Portions of the scenario were
video ]taped to allow the operators the ,opportunity to self-critique
themselves.

The inspector attended a classroom session that covered the "Conduct of
Operations" procedure. The session was led by the shifts’ NPS. He
covered the new changes to the procedure and answered questions from the
oR(eerators as necessary. Log keeping was covered during the session and
the NPS specifically addressed the requirement to log reactivity
manipulations. The session was scheduled for two hours. The NPSs
lecture took apprcximately one hour and the remaining hour was allotted
for self-study.

The '1nspector reviewed the licensee's scheduie for the previous and
upcoming 24 month requalification periods. The current two year period is

C:\WPS1\DOCUMENT\ IR -96 - 041509604 MAR
Report printed 10.56 am. Tuesday. January 14. 1997 32



05.2
05.2.1

PREDECISIONAL
DRAFT INFORMATION - NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION

scheduled to end in December 1996 and the previous period ended in October
1994. As of this review, the current 24 month period was scheduled to end
approximately 26 months after the official end of the previous 24 month
period. While the total amount of time of the current and previous
requalification periods combined does not exceed 24 months, the amount of
time from the end of the previous cycle to the end of the current cycle
would exceed by two months that allowed by the regulations. This has
occurred because the current requalification period has been modified to
contain six cycles of training, instead of five cycles as were contained
in the previous poriod. The licensee interpreted the regulation to allow
all training to be conducted within a two year period that they could
define. In defining their periods. they counted the two years from the
beginning of the calendar year and not from the end of the previous cycle.
The licensee is making arrangements to change their schedule to comply
with the regulation while considering whether or not to seek an exemption
from the regulation.

Within this area. no violations or deviations were identified.

Followup On Previously Identified Inspection Items

NRC Insgect1on Report 50-335,389/94-19 1dentified that the licensee
could, by procedure, maintain an SRO licensed operator up to date in
requalification training by requiring that operator to pass the
re?uired annual operating test at the RO level. This allowed some
efficiency in the requalification training program since SRO
licensed operators whose facility assigned position requires only an
RO Ticense could be examined in less time. The pro%ram required an
SRO affected by this policy to receive special training and
examination as an SRO prior to assuming a position that required and
SRO license. This was identified as URI 50-335,389/94-19-02.

Since this inspection, the licensee has removed this from the
governing procedure, Administrative Procedure 0005720, Licensed
Operator Requalification Program, Rev 36. Currently, all Ticensed
operators are required to be examined at the level of their NRC
license. Since there were no significant examples of operators not
receiving the proper examination and since the licensee has taken
corrective action, this item is closed.

05.2.2 NRC Inspection Report 50-335,389/94-19 identified that AP 0005720,

"Licensed Operator Requalification Program,” allowed the Operations
Supervisor to maintain an active license by virtue of filling the
sition. In accordance with 10 CFR 55.53(e). maintaining an active

, license requires that an operator be "actively performing the
functions of an operator or senior operator.” Since the Operations

. Supervisor had not filled a position that required a license, this
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was identified as inspector followup item 50-335,389/94-19-03. The
licensee has changed the governing procedure to address this
inadequacy. The corrective action for this item is adequate and
this item is closed.

06.2.3 NRC Examination Report 50-335/94-300 identified that theeSt- Lucie
emergency operating procedures did not adequately provitde guidance
to the operators to ensure that a reactor coolant pmw tri
when reactor coolant system temperature dropped below . An RCP
is tripped in this condition to prevent core uplift  Tho=hBR& were
changed to address this concern, however the change did not provide
the guidance necessary to ensure consistent implementation of the
requirement. The training department initiated a corrective action,
number PM 96-03-312, to.address this problem. The St. Lucie EOPs
will undergo another revision which is scheduled to be completed by

July 1996. This item will remain open until the EOPs have been
revised.

08 Miscellaneous Operations Issues

08.1 (Closed) V -335/95-15-03, “"failure to Follow Procedure and Document
1 Valve Position in the Valve Switch Deviation Log"

The inspector reviewed the licensee's activities relating to the subject
“violation, which complicated a loss of RCS inventory event on August 10,
1995. The issue involved a series of floor drain valves (HCV 25-1/7y—=—
which had been left in the closed position following diffilulties
encountered while testing them prior to the arrival of Huiii.ane Erin.
Operators had failed to log the fact that the valves were left shut in the
Valve Switch Deviation log. When a relief valve 1ifted while placing Unit
1 on shutdown cooling. coolant collected in.the Unit 1 pipe tunnel and was
not removed via the floor drains due to the closed valves.

The inspector reviewed work order fggckages which documented maintenance
activities on the subject valves the subject period. NPWOs 61/5778
and 61/5785 documented work which had been performed on valve HCV 25-4,
which had failed to operate properly during stroke testing e Work was
rformed on September 8 through 10. 1995. Work perfo umder these
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